5

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

ORIGINAL

Appeal from Richland County

R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

RECEIVED

JUL 15 2019

SC Court of Appeals

Respondent,

THE STATE,

v.

SHYKIEM UNIVERSAL SMITH,

Appellant.

APPELLATE CASE NO 2018-001219

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

KATHRINE H. HUDGINS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the plea judge err by not holding a reconsideration hearing to properly reconsider Appellant's sentence in light of his cooperation with the State in the prosecution of his codefendant?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

In 2015, the Richland County Grand Jury indicted Shykiem Universal Smith (Appellant) for murder and attempted armed robbery. On December 11, 2017, Appellant pled guilty under *North Carolina v. Alford*¹ before the Honorable R. Knox McMahon. Bea Hightower represented Appellant at the plea proceeding. Assistant Solicitor Meghan Walker prosecuted the case. Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to twelve (12) years' imprisonment. On December 21, 2017, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider Sentence, which Judge McMahon denied without a hearing on June 11, 2018. Appellant filed a Notice of Appeal of the Motion to Reconsider Sentencing. This appeal follows.

¹ 400 U.S. 25 (1970).

STANDARD OF REVIEW

“The authority to change a sentence rests exclusively with the sentencing judge and is within his or her discretion.” *State v. Hicks*, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) (citing *State v. Smith*, 276 S.C. 494, 498, 280 S.E.2d 200, 202 (1981)). A judge is accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant, given the crime committed. *Id.* (citing *Wasman v. United States*, 468 U.S. 559, 563 (1984)).

ARGUMENT

The plea judge erred by not holding a reconsideration hearing to properly reconsider Appellant's sentence in light of his cooperation with the State in the prosecution of his codefendant.

Relevant Facts

Appellant was indicted for murder and attempted armed robbery. On December 11, 2017, he pled guilty under *North Carolina v. Alford* to voluntary manslaughter and attempted armed robbery. At the beginning of the plea proceeding, plea counsel made the court aware that Appellant had been evaluated by the S.C. Department of Mental Health under *M'Naghten*² and found competent to stand trial. R. 5, lines 1–7; Court's Exhibit 1. Additionally, defense counsel had an independent evaluation conducted by Dr. Thomas Martin, and he also concluded that Appellant was competent to stand trial. R. 5, lines 8–18.

The State handed the court the mental health report, and the court asked defense counsel to confirm that her independent evaluator came to the same conclusion. R. 6, line 14–R. 7, line 8. Defense counsel explained that she did not receive a written report from Dr. Martin but that he concurred that Appellant understood what he was doing, was taking responsibility for his part in the actions, and was ready to go forward. R. 7, lines 9–15. The plea judge adopted the findings and conclusions of the mental health report, marked it as a court's exhibit, and found Appellant competent to stand trial and competent under *M'Naghten* as to criminal responsibility. R. 7, lines 21–25.

After going through Appellant's rights with him, the plea judge asked about plea negotiations. R. 15, lines 21–24. The State recommended a cap of twelve years and defense counsel clarified the agreement was between two and twelve years' imprisonment. R. 15, line

² *Queen v. M'Naghten*, 8 Eng. Rep. 718 (1843).

22–R. 16, line 5. The assistant solicitor recited the facts of the case, during which she mentioned that Appellant had been willing to testify against his codefendant. R. 19, line 18–R. 21, line 20.

The court accepted the plea under *North Carolina v. Alford*. R. 26, lines 8–19. Defense counsel stressed that not only was Appellant prepared to testify at his codefendant’s trial, he also received death threats while he was in the jail from his codefendant threatening him about testifying. R. 30, lines 3–14. She pointed out to the court that Appellant cooperated fully and that because of him, his codefendant was now serving a forty-year sentence. She also emphasized that Appellant was not the shooter. R. 31, lines 1–11. Further into the plea process, defense counsel told the court that law enforcement got the identification of Appellant’s codefendant from Appellant. R. 38, lines 23–25.

After hearing from both sides, including from family members of the victim and the defendant, the plea judge went through the mental evaluation, Appellant’s history, the statement of a witness who saw and heard some of the altercation that led to the death of the victim, and the statements from the women who were with the codefendants at the time. R. 24, line 10–R. 45, line 2. He further considered the potential sentences the original charges carried, the recommendation of the State, Appellant’s cooperation and willingness to testify, and his lack of a prior criminal record. R. 45, lines 3–20. Basing his decision on the totality of the circumstances, the plea judge sentenced Appellant to twelve years’ imprisonment. R. 46, lines 11–17.

On December 21, 2017, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider Sentence, the grounds of which were “the Court did not give sufficient consideration to [Appellant]’s cooperation with the State in the prosecution of [his codefendant].” R. 72 Motion to Reconsider Sentence. The plea judge did not conduct a hearing on the matter; rather, after an almost six-month delay, he wrote on the Motion on June 11, 2018: “After consideration of all facts & circumstances and

Defendant's file; Defendant's Motion to Reconsider is Denied." R. 72 Motion to Reconsider Sentence.

Discussion

Rule 29(a) of the South Carolina Rules of Criminal Procedure provides:

The time within which to make the motion shall not be affected by the ending of a term of court or departure of the judge from the circuit, and the circuit judge shall retain jurisdiction of the action **for the purpose of hearing and disposing of the motion** if not heard and disposed of during the term. Except by consent of the parties, **argument on the motion shall be heard** in the circuit where the trial or hearing was held. **The motion may, in the discretion of the court, be determined on briefs filed by the parties without oral argument.**

Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP (emphasis added).

It is clear from the above rule that when a party makes a post-trial motion, the judge shall **hear** the motion. Only when the parties file briefs may a decision of the court be made without oral argument. Here, no briefs were filed and no oral argument was heard. Thus, the judge erred. Not only did the judge decide the motion without hearing argument, he waited nearly six months to rule. Moreover, because he ruled the way he did by simply writing a sentence on the corner of the Motion, he gave no details of his ruling nor what his considerations were.

When looking at changing a sentence, "[a] judge is accorded very wide discretion in determining an appropriate sentence **and must be permitted to consider any and all information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence for the particular defendant**, given the crime committed." *State v. Hicks*, 377 S.C. 322, 325, 659 S.E.2d 499, 500 (Ct. App. 2008) (emphasis added) (citing *Wasman v. United States*, 468 U.S. 559, 563 (1984)). Here, the court did not consider any and all information because it did not ask for briefs or oral argument. Rather, it made its decision based on nothing more than the grounds listed in the

Motion that “the Court did not give sufficient consideration to [Appellant]’s cooperation with the State in the prosecution of [the codefendant].” This did not give any “information that reasonably might bear on the proper sentence.” Accordingly, the plea judge erred.

CONCLUSION

Based on the above arguments, the court should hold a hearing to reconsider Appellant's sentence.



Kathrine H. Hudgins
Appellate Defender

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT