ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal From Richland County
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2018-001219

RECEIVED

JUL 17 2019

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE,

Respondent,

vs.

SHYKIEM UNIVERSAL SMITH,

Appellant.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

WILLIAM M. BLITCH, JR.
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 15608

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BYRON E. GIPSON
Solicitor, Fifth Judicial Circuit

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In the Court of Appeals

Appeal From Richland County
R. Knox McMahon, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No: 2018-001219

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. The trial court did not abuse its very broad discretion in denying Appellant's motion to reconsider sentence without a hearing. Most significantly, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The Richland County Grand Jury indicted Appellant on charges of murder and attempted armed robbery. (True-billed Indictments; R. 49, 52). On December 11, 2017, Appellant pled guilty to voluntary manslaughter and attempted armed robbery pursuant to North Carolina v. Alford. The Honorable R. Knox McMahon heard the plea and found the plea knowingly, voluntarily, and intelligently made. Judge McMahon sentenced Appellant to twelve years on each charge, to run concurrent. On December 21, 2017, Appellant filed a Motion to Reconsider Sentence, which Judge McMahon denied on June 11, 2018. Appellant filed a timely Notice of Appeal.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. State v. Dawson, 402 S.C. 160, 163, 740 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2013) (citing State v. Jacobs, 393 S.C. 584, 586, 713 S.E.2d 621, 622 (2011)). A sentence will not be overturned absent an abuse of discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law. Id.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court did not abuse its very broad discretion in denying Appellant's motion to reconsider sentence without a hearing. Most significantly, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal.**

Appellant contends the trial court erred in denying his motion to reconsider his sentence without holding a hearing or allowing the parties to file a brief. Significantly, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal because Appellant never asked for a hearing or to file briefing. Also, the written filing in which he provided the explanation for the grounds of his motion to reconsider sentence was sufficient to entitle the judge to know the basis on which he was asked to rule.

Preservation

In this case, Appellant never asked the court to hold a hearing or to allow briefing. His motion does not request a hearing or briefing, instead it merely asks the trial court do what was done, reconsider his sentence. Even after receiving the denial, Appellant failed to request a hearing or briefing through a subsequent motion. As the South Carolina Supreme Court recently explained:

Successive Rule 29(a) motions are generally not permitted. However, where a second Rule 29(a) motion is related to the disposition of the first Rule 29(a) motion, the trial court retains authority to hear and dispose of the subsequent motion, provided the subsequent motion is filed within ten days of the disposition of the prior post-trial motion.

State v. Pfeiffer, Op. No. 27891 (S.C. filed May 29, 2019). In this case, where Appellant would be explaining an error in the procedure utilized by the trial court, which he could not have known would occur until receipt of the denial of his motion, he certainly would be entitled and expected to file a subsequent motion to allow the trial court the opportunity to correct any error Appellant

alleges occurred. Because the trial court was never asked to hold a hearing or to allow briefing, the issue is not preserved for review on appeal. See Jean H. Toal, Amelia W. Walker & Margaret E. Baker, Appellate Practice in South Carolina 185 (3d ed. 2016) (“There are four basic requirements to preserving issues at trial for appellate review. . . . [T]he issue must have been (1) raised to and ruled upon by the [trial] court, (2) raised by the appellant, (3) raised in a timely manner, and (4) raised to the [trial] court with sufficient specificity.”).

Additionally, Appellant has failed to provide this Court with any information regarding what he would have explained in a hearing or in subsequent briefing that was not already presented to the trial court. As a result, the issue is not properly before the Court because Appellant has failed to provide the Court with the ability to determine and consider any alleged prejudice which occurred. See State v. Roper, 274 S.C. 14, 20, 260 S.E.2d 705, 708 (1979) (“It is well settled that a reviewing court may not consider error alleged in exclusion of testimony unless the record on appeal shows fairly what the rejected testimony would have been.”); State v. Schmidt, 288 S.C. 301, 303, 342 S.E.2d 401, 402-03 (1986) (“Ordinarily, this [c]ourt will not review alleged error of the exclusion of testimony unless a proffer of testimony is properly made on the record.”).

Merits

On the merits, Appellant contends Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP, requires the trial judge to either hold a hearing or accept “briefs” filed by the parties. He asserts because he was not asked to file a brief, the trial court should have held a hearing. However, a clear reading of the rule allows for flexibility and discretion by the Court, not a mandated process, in determining the motion.

“In interpreting the language of a court rule, we apply the same rules of construction used in interpreting statutes.” Green By & Through Green v. Lewis Truck Lines, Inc., 314 S.C. 303, 304, 443 S.E.2d 906, 907 (1994). The cardinal rule of statutory construction is to ascertain and give effect to the intent of the legislature. State v. Pittman, 373 S.C. 527, 561, 647 S.E.2d 144, 161 (2007). In interpreting statutes, the Court looks to the plain meaning of the statute and the intent of the legislature. State v. Gaines, 380 S.C. 23, 32, 667 S.E.2d 728, 733 (2008). A statute’s language must be construed in light of the intended purpose of the statute. Id. at 33, 667 S.E.2d at 733. Whenever possible, legislative intent should be found in the plain language of the statute itself. Id.

“Where the statute’s language is plain and unambiguous, and conveys a clear and definite meaning, the rules of statutory interpretation are not needed and the court has no right to impose another meaning.” Pittman, 373 S.C. at 561, 647 S.E.2d at 161. The statute must also be read as a whole and in harmony with its purpose. State v. Sweat, 386 S.C. 339, 350, 688 S.E.2d 569, 575 (2010).

Rule 29 provides:

Except for motions for new trials based on after-discovered evidence, post-trial motions shall be made within ten (10) days after the imposition of the sentence. . . . The time for appeal for all parties shall be stayed by a timely post-trial motion and shall run from the receipt of written notice of entry of the order granting or denying such motion. The time within which to make the motion shall not be affected by the ending of a term of court or departure of the judge from the circuit, and the circuit judge shall retain jurisdiction of the action for the purpose of hearing and disposing of the motion if not heard and disposed of during the term. Except by consent of the parties, argument on the motion shall be heard in the circuit where the trial or hearing was held. The motion **may**, in the discretion of the court, be determined on briefs filed by the parties without oral argument.

Rule 29(a), SCRCrimP (emphasis added).

Nothing in the language of the Rule requires the trial court to either have a hearing and allow oral argument or allow briefing. The language is written that the judge “may” request briefs. Rule 29(a) is written in a manner that allows flexibility and discretion in ruling on the motion based on whether the trial judge believes additional information is necessary or warranted, which is clearly the legislative intent behind the Rule. Accordingly, there should not be a requirement of a hearing or briefing when the trial judge, in his discretion, determines he has all the information necessary to make the requisite decision. The determination should be made on a case-by-case basis by the judge who is in the best position to determine the necessity of a hearing or brief. Cf., State v. Manning, 418 S.C. 38, 44, 791 S.E.2d 148, 151 (2016) (finding a full evidentiary hearing is not necessary in all cases regarding a determination of immunity, and instead finding a case by case “approach permit[s] the trial judge to tailor the hearing to the needs of each case, [and] it serves to save precious judicial resources in cases like this one where an extensive hearing is simply unnecessary.”); State v. Wessinger, 408 S.C. 416, 420, 759 S.E.2d 405, 407 (2014) (finding “the scope and necessity of a separate evidentiary hearing” regarding whether a crime should be considered sexually violent for SVP purposes “is to be determined on a case-by-case basis.”).

This case is a prime example of the benefit of a rule of flexibility. At the plea hearing, counsel for Appellant explained Appellant “actually did, in fact, the solicitor alluded to this, fully cooperated from the very beginning.” (T.27; R.27). Further, he described Appellant as “prepared to testify at trial to everything that he saw and who shot and what happened” and because of his willingness he was receiving death threats. (T.30; R.30). Counsel explained the co-defendant is now serving a forty-year sentence due to Appellant’s testimony. (T.31; R.31). The trial court

also knew from the plea hearing all the mitigating factors for Appellant. (T.5-7; 31-32; R. 5-7; 31-32).

The trial court, in sentencing Appellant initially, specifically took everything presented at the hearing into account in reaching his sentence. He considered the statement by the State, statement by his counsel, testimony by those present at the hearing, and the mental health report. (T.39; R.39). The trial court took into account the fact Appellant had no criminal history. (T.42; R.42). Most importantly, the court explained: "I take into account his cooperation, also his willingness to testify, the fact that he has no prior criminal record." (T.45; R.45).

Appellant then filed a motion to reconsider in which he maintained the "Court did not give sufficient consideration to [Appellant's] cooperation with the State in the prosecution of Maurice Miller." He presented no additional information, and still has presented no additional information for the court to consider. Instead, he merely argues the court did not give enough consideration to what was already presented. The trial court is in the best position to know what consideration it gave to the cooperation. He stated on the record he considered it and Appellant's willingness to testify in sentencing Appellant to 12 years. In denying the motion, he again stated he considered "all facts and circumstances and [Appellant's] file."

Accordingly, there was no need to have a hearing or to require briefing when the court already had the information in the file and presented at the hearing and was able to determine whether he previously gave proper consideration. This case demonstrates why a requirement of a hearing or briefing would only burden the court unnecessarily, and instead, Rule 29(a) should be read to allow the proper discretion and flexibility for the trial court. See State v. Elwell, 396 S.C. 330, 336, 721 S.E.2d 451, 454 (Ct. App. 2011) ("The statute must be interpreted with realistic circumstances and rationales in mind."); State v. Baker, 310 S.C. 510, 512, 427 S.E.2d 670, 672

(1993) (“A statute as a whole must receive a practical, reasonable, and fair interpretation consonant with the purpose, design, and policy of the lawmakers.”).

CONCLUSION

For all the foregoing reasons, it is respectfully submitted that the judgment and conviction of the lower court be affirmed.